#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MELVIN TROTTER,

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Manatee County grand jury returned an indictment on June 20, 1986 charging Melvin Trotter, appellant, with first degree murder in the stabbing death of Vergie Langford. (R2621-2) Prior to trial, Appellant moved to disqualify one of the assistant state attorneys who was prosecuting the case because the attorney had previously defended Appellant in a different case. (R2750-1) After a hearing on March 19, 1987 (R2229-57), this motion was denied. (R2257)

Trial was held before Acting Circuit Judge Alan R.

Dakan and a jury on March 30 through April 9, 1987. (R1-2223)

During voir dire, the court denied Appellant's motion for change of venue. (R326) Defense counsel challenged four prospective jurors for cause based upon their exposure to prejudicial publicity. (R90, 447, 540-2, 754-5) These challenges for cause were denied. (R91, 448, 543, 755) Eleven prospective jurors were excused on State challenges for cause based upon their attitudes concerning the death penalty, most notably prospective juror Burse. (R139)

At trial, Appellant's motions for judgment of acquittal were denied. (R1742, 1747) Two of the special jury instructions requested by the defense were given and a third was rejected. (R1743-4) A motion for mistrial during the prosecutor's closing argument was denied. (R1775-6) The jury returned a verdict of quilty as charged. (R1870, 2825)

In the subsequent penalty proceeding, the judge sustained the State's objection to allowing Trotter's artwork into evidence. (R1923) After the jury had retired for deliberations, he reversed this ruling and allowed the drawings and, over defense objection, all of the evidence from the guilt or innocence phase to go to the jury. (R2212-3) The jury, by a vote of 9-3, recommended that a sentence of death be imposed. (R2216, 2838)

At a sentencing hearing held May 15, 1987, the court heard argument regarding the sentence to be imposed. (R2274-2317) On May 18, 1987, he imposed a sentence of death on Trotter. (R2962) In his written sentencing order, the court found four aggravating circumstances; 1) under sentence of imprisonment, 2) prior conviction of violent felony, 3) while engaged in a robbery, and 4) "especially wicked, evil, atrocious and cruel". (R2863, see Appendix) The court found four mitigating circumstances as well: 1) extreme mental or emotional disturbance, 2) substantially impaired capacity, 3) below average I.Q. with "family and developmental problems," and 4) remorse. (R2864, see Appendix) The sentencing judge declared that the aggravating circumstances outweighed the mitigating circumstances. (R2864-5, see Appendix)

Post-trial, defense counsel attempted to subpoena the jurors to inquire into possible extraneous influences in their deliberations. (R2861, 2967-8) The trial judge quashed the subpoenas. (R2974) At the hearing on Trotter's motion for new

trial held June 11, 1987 an affidavit by juror Morris was presented to establish that jurors had actually used the telephone in the juryroom after they had retired for deliberations. (R2995) The court noted that there was no allegation of improper communications on the telephone and denied the motion for new trial. (R3008-9) Juror Morris was later interviewed before the court on July 10, 1987 at which time the judge adhered to his prior ruling. (R2610)

Appellant filed his Notice of Appeal on June 11, 1987.

(R2882) After preparation of the record on appeal, the Public Defender of the Tenth Judicial Circuit was designated as appellate counsel on July 27, 1987.

Pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(1) of the Florida Constitution and Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(1)(A)(i), Melvin Trotter, appellant, now takes appeal to this Court.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

## A. GUILT OR INNOCENCE PHASE

On June 16, 1986 around 2:30 p.m., a truck driver went into Langford's Grocery in Palmetto, Florida. (R1359-60) He found the owner, Vergie Langford, sitting on the floor in the back of the store. (R1360) He saw blood on her; she told him that she had been stabbed and robbed. (R1361)

The truck driver, Johnny Stevenson, noted that there was an overturned bowl of cantaloupe near the cash register in the front of the store. (R1363) He saw a five dollar bill on the floor near the front counter. (R1364) Mrs. Langford's necklace was on the floor between the aisles. (R1364) Stevenson called the 911 emergency number. (R1362)

Paramedics Frank Tona and William J. McCarley responded to the call for assistance. (R1283, 1304) Mrs. Langford was semi-conscious. (R1284) She had suffered an evisceration wound and multiple stab wounds to the abdomen. (R1284-5, 1305) Tona observed a long bloody knife nearby which the victim had used in her business to cut bacon and cheese. (R1290, 1325)

Mrs. Langford complained that she had been robbed and stabbed. (R1314) She said that her assailant was a short black male with "Tropicana patches." (R1293) The paramedics treated her for blood loss and transported her to Manatee Memorial Hospital. (R1316-8)

Dr. Henry Smoak treated the victim in the Emergency
Room of Manatee Memorial Hospital. (R1251) Mrs. Langford was in

critical condition when she arrived; she had a large abdominal wound which resulted in her insides protruding from her body.

(R1253-4) There were four other stab wounds to the abdomen.

(R1258) Dr. Smoak stabilized the victim's vital signs and delivered her to a surgeon, Dr. Ganey. (R1262-3)

Dr. James Ganey testified that he performed surgery on Mrs. Langford, finishing around 6:30 or 7:00 p.m. (R1420) He knew from talking to Langford's family that she had previously undergone open heart surgery and had continuing heart problems. (R1414) At 10:50 p.m., the patient went into a full cardiac arrest and could not be revived. (R1263-4) Dr. Ganey said that a normal young person would usually survive this type of trauma, but an older person with a bad heart like Mrs. Langford would have less chance of survival. (R1415)

Andrew Haynes and his wife Mattie were at Mrs.

Langford's grocery store around 2:00 p.m. on June 16, 1986.

(R1338, 1354) Mrs. Haynes went into the store and bought cold cuts, cheese and bread. (R1342) As she left, she saw a person standing outside the front screen door. (R1343-4) She identified Appellant as the person she had seen. (R1346) He had a Tropicana pin on his shirt. (R1346-7)

Mr. Haynes who remained outside, also saw Appellant on the porch of the store and spoke to him. (R1354-6) He recognized Trotter as someone he had seen previously in bars around Palmetto. (R1357)

Elnora Oates testified that Trotter came running

through the rain that afternoon to the rooming house where she resided. (R1433) They went to where Trotter was living. (R1434) Trotter acted nervous and paid a man \$ 2 to warn him if anybody came up. (R1434-5) He told the witness to tell anyone who asked that he had been with her all day. (R1435) Trotter showed her a red bandanna containing \$ 17-20 of change and \$ 35-37 worth of food stamps. (R1435)

The two of them proceeded to buy \$ 40 worth of rock cocaine and smoke it. (R1437) Trotter later bought another \$ 40 slab of cocaine which they again smoked. (R1437-8) A third piece of rock cocaine was purchased for \$ 20 before the witness left around 6 o'clock in the evening. (R1441-2)

About 2:30 the next afternoon, Trotter was questioned by Detective Castellow and Lieutenant Van Fleet at the Palmetto police station. (R1581, 1644) Trotter gave a taped statement at that time and three more taped statements during the afternoon and evening. (R3095-3148)

Langford. He said that he went inside her store but didn't see her. (R3140) He went to the cash register and took money and food stamps. (R3140, 3142-3) He then went to the soda cooler where Mrs. Langford ran at him with a large knife and they got into a scuffle. (R3144) During the scuffle, Langford got cut and fell to the floor. (R3145-7) Trotter didn't remember how the wounds were inflicted, only that she was bleeding and her intestines were coming out. (R3147)

Other evidence presented by the State included Appellant's palm print found on the meat cooler in the store.

(R1656-9) Blood found on T-shirt belonging to Trotter was consistent with the blood of the victim. (R1614)

## B. PENALTY PHASE

By stipulation of counsel, a certified judgment of prior conviction for robbery was introduced into evidence against Trotter. (R1899) Ken Botbyl, a probation and parole officer, testified that Trotter was assigned to his community control caseload. (R1900-4) Trotter was placed on community control in September 1985 and was still under community control supervision on June 16, 1986, the day of the homicide. (R1903-4)

The defense case included testimony by the Appellant (R1912-47), his foster parents (R1949-71), two former teachers (R1971-81), the jail chaplain (R1982-90), a medical expert specializing in addictionology (R2005-46), and a clinical psychologist. (R2048-2135)

Melvin Trotter testified that he moved to Florida at an early age with his mother and six brothers and sisters. (R1914)

His mother drank heavily, sometimes beat him and didn't provide much food or clothing. (R1914-6) One of her boyfriends beat him "all the time.'' (R1917) When he was old enough to go to school, he didn't go often because he didn't have clothing to wear. (R1917-8)

Eventually, when Melvin was about nine years old, H.R.S. stepped in and placed the children in foster homes. (R1918-9) Appellant resided with the Ellingtons until he was sixteen. (R1920) He testified that he never learned to read or write well but that he had a talent for drawing and mechanical work. (R1921-2)

Trotter said that the first time he used rock cocaine was when he had a misunderstanding with his wife and a neighbor gave him some to try. (R1924-5) He continued to smoke rock cocaine after that until his arrest for the homicide. (R1925) When his wife and he separated, he spent all of the money he earned from work on rock cocaine. (R1925-6)

When Trotter used rock cocaine, he would not be able to sleep. (R1926) He had not slept for four or five days before the day he went to Langford's Grocery. (R1926) He admitted that he stabbed Mrs. Langford and expressed remorse. (R1927)

Trotter's foster parents Laura and James Ellington testified that they had been in the foster parent program of H.R.S. since 1971. (R1950) They had been foster parents to somewhere between 75 and 100 children. (R1950) Melvin was brought to them when he was nine years old. (R1951) At that time he was hungry, had only the clothes on his back, and didn't go to school. (R1951) His mother was drunk most of the time, the house was filthy and there were signs that Melvin had been physically abused. (R1961-3)

Trotter lived with the Ellingtons until he was sixteen.

(R1952-3) He attended school and church regularly while he was living with them. (R1954, 1960) Melvin was a quiet and obedient child who never presented a disciplinary problem at home nor at school. (R1954, 1964) He was a slow reader but had mechanical abilities. (R1955, 1964) Mrs. Ellington called Melvin one of the best foster children they had. (R1954)

Two teachers who had taught Trotter while he attended Bradenton Middle School testified. (R1971-81) Rosa Hadley said that Melvin was in the educable mentally handicapped program. (R1973) She taught him for three years and he was always well behaved. (R1974) Samuel McDowell was also a teacher in the E.M.H. program. (R1977) Children are not admitted to the E.M.H. program until they go through a battery of psychological tests and it is determined that their I.Q. is under 70. (R1977) He taught Trotter for three years and found him a "quiet, cooperative, dependable, rather pleasant student." (R1978) Melvin was a classroom helper and attended school regularly. (R1979)

Robert Ferrier, chaplain of the Manatee County jail, testified that Trotter was a regular attendee at church services and bible study. (R1983) The chaplain said he also sits on the jail disciplinary board and that Trotter had never come before the board during the nine months he had been in jail awaiting trial. (R1984-6)

Dr. David Smith, a physician who specializes in the study and treatment of drug addictive diseases, testified in

regard to the effect of cocaine on the human brain. (R2005-9)

Usage of cocaine causes a range of reactions varying from

irritability to cocaine psychosis. (R2010-14) Cocaine psychosis

produces the same type of psychotic reaction that a person having

the mental illness paranoid schizophrenia would exhibit. (R2011)

Between the two ends of the scale of reactions to cocaine lies the "rage reaction" which Dr. smith described as an inappropriate overreaction to true sensory stimulus. (R2013)

Thus, a person who had no history of violence might overreact very violently when impaired by cocaine. (R2013) Cocaine use also causes sleep deprivation which further impairs the brain.

(R2014) Dr. Smith testified that of the large number of cocaine addicts treated at his clinic, 60% had at one time or another manifested a rage reaction or greater symptoms of cocaine psychosis. (R2030-1) When given a hypothetical based upon the history of Trotter, Dr. Smith said that the facts were consistent with a cocaine induced "rage reaction." (R2027-9, 2034-6)

Dr. Harry Krop, a clinical psychologist, testified that he evaluated Trotter and found no evidence of gross mental illness. (R2055-7) He administered the Wechsler Adult Intelligence test which gave Trotter an I.Q. of 72. (R2060-1) Dr. Krop noted that this score placed Trotter in the borderline range of intelligence and that previous testing had shown a lower I.Q. (R2061) Trotter also showed a learning disability which meant that he could not learn up to the potential of his 72 I.Q. score. (R2062) Dr. Krop gave his opinion that this could have

resulted from the deprivation Trotter suffered in the "formative years" before he was nine and went to live with the Ellingtons.

(R2063-4) The doctor said that Trotter was functioning mentally somewhere between age 11 and 12. (R2064-5)

Dr. Krop also agreed with the diagnosis of a school psychologist who evaluated Trotter at age 15 and found an inadequate personality. (R2065) He estimated that at least 75 percent of death row inmates would be diagnosed as having an anti-social personality but that Trotter did not have this trait. (R2066-7)

Dr. Krop gave his opinion that Trotter's judgment was severely impaired at the time of the homicide. (R2068) He explained that a part of the intelligence test he administered measured judgment or common sense. (R2068-9) Trotter scored very low in this area; his judgment level is severely retarded. (R2069) To this must be added the distorted perception arising from cocaine abuse which caused an overreaction. (R2069)

Dr. Krop stated that Trotter was under extreme mental or emotional disturbance when he committed the homicide. (R2075-6) Trotter also had a substantially impaired capacity to conform his conduct to the requirements of law. (R2076) The psychologist also emphasized the emotionally deprived and abusive background which Trotter suffered as a young child, educational deprivation, lack of a male role model, and an alcoholic mother as contributing to his problems. (R2076-9) He agreed with previous determinations that Trotter has potential for

rehabilitation. (R2080-1)

In rebuttal, Ken Botbyl testified that he came into contact with Trotter 200 to 250 times in the nine months that he supervised him on community control. (R2144-5) He never noticed any signs of anxiety or impairment. (R2145) He noticed a weight loss which Trotter attributed to exercise. (R2146) There were no complaints about Trotter's job performance. (R2147) The witness had no knowledge that Trotter ever used cocaine prior to the homicide. (R2148)

## C. POST-TRIAL MOTIONS

Defense counsel had subpoenas issued to the jurors which the State moved to quash. (R2967) Defense counsel requested leave to depose the jurors because of materials found in the jury deliberation room which may have been used by the deliberating jurors. (R2968-9) These items included a set of standard jury instructions, law books and a telephone. (R2970-1) Inquiry would be made of the jurors to find out if any of these were used. (R2970) The court granted the State's motion to quash the subpoenas without prejudice, stating that the defense would need first to show actual use of the materia s. (R2974, 2976)

At the hearing on Appellant's Motion for New Trial, photographs of the interior of the jury deliberation room were introduced into evidence. (R2981-5) An affidavit from juror Morris was submitted which indicated that after the jury retired

for deliberations in both the guilt or innocence phase and the penalty phase, several jurors used the telephone. (R2878, 2995)

In denying the motion, the trial judge observed that there were no allegations that the telephone was used for an improper purpose nor that the other materials in the room were used at all. (R3008-9)

Subsequently, juror Morris was brought before the court on July 10, 1987 for an interview. (R2574-2608) Juror Morris testified under oath that the telephone was not used by the jurors while they were discussing the case. (R2586) It was used prior to deliberations by jurors to notify their families that they would be late. (R2587) She never overheard any juror say anything about the case over the telephone. (R2588)

Juror Morris remembered specifically that Mr.

Carpenter, foreman of the jury, used the telephone after the jury retired for deliberations in both the guilt or innocence and the penalty phase. (R2594-6) It was possible that more of the jurors used the telephone but she couldn't remember for certain. (R2593-6)

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

On the basis of exposure to prejudicial pretrial publicity, defense counsel challenged four prospective jurors for The court denied these challenges for cause and required defense counsel to exhaust his peremptories. He requested an additional one, which was denied. Prospective juror Woods read a newspaper article indicating that Appellant would plead guilty as charged if he could receive a life sentence. The victim's family instead upon seeking the death penalty. Prospective juror Woods also said she would need to hear the defendant's side of the story in order to be fair. Prospective jurors Schmidt and Bradshaw were exposed to press reports about Appellant's status on community control. Prospective juror Beighle read an article which gave a prejudicial distortion of the facts which would not be in evidence. She also was predisposed in favor of the death if Trotter was convicted. The trial court did not make appropriate inquiries and whatever statements of impartiality were made by the prospective jurors were truly perfunctory.

Post-trial, it came to the court's attention that jurors had used the telephone in the jury room after retiring for deliberations. There was no allegation of prejudicial communications so the court denied the request to interview the jurors who had actually used the telephone. This was an insufficient inquiry by the court.

One of the assistant state attorneys who prosecuted this case had previously represented Trotter as defense counsel in a different prosecution. He eventually conducted the State's case in the penalty phase which included cross-examination of Trotter when he testified. In a capital case, a former attorney-client relationship is ample reason to disqualify a prosecutor who may be able to use confidential communications to rebut mitigating evidence. Trotter's pretrial motion to disqualify the prosecutor should have been granted.

At the State's request, eleven prospective jurors were excluded for cause because of their views concerning the death penalty. One of these, prospective juror Burse, was not even opposed to the death penalty. He was personally uncomfortable with the prospect of having to recommend a death sentence but stated that he would follow the law in accordance with the court's instructions. In excusing prospective juror Burse for cause, the trial judge misapplied Adams v. Texas, 448 U.S. 38 (1980).

Evidence of Trotter's status on community control was introduced in the penalty phase as relevant to the aggravating circumstance § 921.141(5)(a) (under sentence of imprisonment). This was error because community control is not a sentence of imprisonment.

During the penalty phase, defense counsel tried to introduce an exhibit of Trotter's artwork as relevant to his character and potentially mitigating. The trial judge denied its

admission into evidence, but subsequently reversed his ruling after the jury retired for deliberations. The change of ruling came too late to prevent prejudice to Trotter.

The court's instruction to the jury on the aggravating circumstance § 921.141(5)(h) was unconstitutionally vague because it did not inform the jury of the limiting construction given to this factor. This Court has noted that all killings are heinous but that the aggravating circumstance applies only to a "conscienceless or pitiless crime which is unnecessarily torturous to the victim." The jury was not given adequate guidance; therefore its death recommendation is constitutionally flawed.

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