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

been equate to probation, which has been held to be "imprison-ment" for purposes of capital sentencing.

VI. The drawings were a nonessential part of appellant's penalty phase strategy. Defense counsel didn't even know Trotter drew until the day of the hearing, and apparently had not seen them until Trotter produced them in the courtroom. Counsel was free to argue the fact of the drawings, and other matters related to the drawings, but he didn't mention any of that in his argument. The error was harmless or cured when the jury received the drawings. The error, if any, was further ameliorated because defense counsel had the opportunity to argue the drawings to the judge at sentencing, but only mentioned "artistic ability" in passing, an argument he could have made equally as validly to the jury.

VII. The challenge to the instruction was not preserved as no objection was registered at trial. This Court has already addressed the issue adversely to appellant in Smalley,

VIII. The facts enumerated in support of the aggravating factor of heinous, atrocious, or cruel, more than support the circumstance, regardless of the store/home analogy. The critical factor is not the victim's ownership of the store, but her long-term and close connection to the place of her evisceration, a circumstance equally applicable to a lifelong and faithful employee. This sets the killing apart from those occurring in chain convenience stores or other impersonal public places.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

NO ERROR IS SHOWN IN THE JURY SELECTION PROCESS RELATING TO PREJUDICIAL PUBLICITY

A. NO PREJUDICE SHOWN

Appellant relies on <u>Hill y. State</u>, 477 So.2d **553** (Fla. **1985)**, <u>cert, denied</u>, _____ U.S. ____, **108** S.Ct. **1302**, **99** L.Ed.2d **512** (1988), for the principle that merely requesting an additional peremptory challenge is sufficient to show prejudice resulting from erroneous denial of a motion to excuse for cause. This is simply not the case.

In the final sequence of jury selection, the state accepted the panel of twelve jurors, including the twelfth juror, Semons. R1199-1200. At the time the state accepted the panel, four jurors remained in the venire. R1200. After the state accepted the panel, defense counsel made the following motion:

We're moving for an additional peremptory challenge. We feel that, one, in the interest of justice, we should be permitted it; and secondly you know, had we not had to use up a peremptory on Mrs. Woods, I think we would have been entitled to exercise more discretion in picking the jury.

So we're simply asking the court for one additional peremptory challenge.

 $R.\ 1200.$ The judge denied the motion. Both the state and the defense accepted the next juror in line, Beachy, as the alternate juror. R1200.

Logically, faced with the state's acceptance of the panel, the only way the defendant could have used an extra peremptory challenge would have been to strike juror Semons or to back-strike, if the judge would have permitted that. However, defense

counsel made no attempt to exclude Semons for cause at any point during the voir dire. Nor did he attempt to have Semons excluded for cause after his motion for a peremptory challenge was denied. Defense counsel expressed no dissatisfaction with Semons, or with any other juror remaining on the panel. A review of every statement by Semons during voir dire fails to suggest any reason she was objectionable, either for a peremptory strike or for cause. 1

The situation, therefore, is one where defense counsel

General voir dire: R861 (personal introduction at start of general voir); R876 (reasonable doubt standard acceptable to Semons); R905-06 (no problem serving as juror for two weeks, except for missing Bingo); R915 (people should be held accountable for their actions--response is consistent with other jurors in "roll call" poll of most or all jurors on this issue); R938 (justice should be color blind--consistent with "roll call" responses); R1054-56 (general interview with defense counsel -- defense counsel asks all the jurors whether they smoke -- Semons does); R1058 (Semons notes her husband has been honored for his work in voactional rehabilitation); R1096 (Semons explains presumption of innocence in her own words -- comment about wanting to hear both sides of the story provokes prolonged voir dire of entire panel regarding burden of proof, R1097 et seq,); R1127-28 (state should prove all elements of a crime beyond a reasonable doubt); R1137 (if state proved a defendant probably did a crime, he might be guilty, but not of first degree murder); R1179 (Semons says she could stick to a decision if she thought she was right); R1187 (Semons would be willing to serve on this jury, amidst varied responses ranging from enthusiasm to distaste in "roll call" poll).

^{1.} Individual voir dire: R761 (Semons says she scanned an article about the trial the night before, but didn't remember anything); R762-63 (Semons hadn't read much about the case, wouldn't let it influence her as a juror); R764 (no opinion about the death penalty); R766 (could impose death penalty); R767 (apparently enthusiastic response to proposition that life imrisonment might be proper penalty in some cases, not necessarily death--"Oh, yes . . That's right . . Yes,"); R768 (understands that death is imposed in more serious cases); R770 (reasserts she could vote for death); R772 (reasserts minimal recollection of newspaper story); R774-75 (life imprisonment more appropriate than death if defendant is mentally distrubed or in a blind rage, not knowing what he was doing); R783 (defense has no challenge to Semons at close of group interview, but individual interview as to her exposure to the newspaper article ensues); R784-87 (Semons voir dired alone about article - states she only scanned one article the day before, recalled reading an article at the time fo the murder, but recalled no details--unable even to recognize Trotter's name until informed that was the name of the defendant, R786--and further asserted ability to set aside any recollection from the paper--defense has no objection at close of individual voir dire, no challenge for cause).

sought an additional peremptory strike, but without indicating he found any juror specifically objectionable at the time of the motion, In fact, it may well be that defense counsel sought the additional strike solely to preserve the unsuccessful challenge for cause of juror Woods, as she was expressly mentioned in the This had the potential of creating the illogical Hobson's choice discussed in the note infra, Upon winning the motion for an additional peremptory, defense counsel would have been compelled to strike Semons since Hill purportedly requires exhaustion of all peremptories and denial of a request for more. But Semons was an especially attractive defense juror since she showed apparent enthusiasm for the option of life imprisonment rather than death if the killer was in a blind rage, R774-75, the precise defense raised here. Had appellant stricken Semons and won an additional peremptory, he would have been forced to strike Beachy, the alternate who was accepted despite defendant's option to strike, and seek an additional peremptory challenge.

Forcing a defendant to exercise a peremptory challenge when the court erroneously denies a challenge for cause is not, alone, reversible error. Withers v. State, 104 So.2d 725 (Fla. 1958) (no error where challenged jurors were dismissed by peremptory challenge and defendant had not exhausted peremptory challenges when jury was finally accepted).

This is so even when the defendant ultimately exhausts his peremptory challenges. In <u>Rollins y.</u> State, 148 So.2d 274 (Fla. 1963), the defendant exhausted his peremptory challenges. With one seat remaining to be filled, the defendant voir dired a final juror but did not move to strike the juror for cause. The juror

was seated on the panel. This Court held that the defendant "has not shown that he was thereby required to accept an objectionable or unqualified juror after he exhausted his peremptory challenges," 148 So.2d at 275-76. The Court examined the nature of the voir dire of the final juror, and found nothing "objectionable or unqualified" about the juror, So too, Semons is neither objectionable or unqualified in this case, based on the unfettered voir dire defense counsel undertook, nor did defense counsel move to strike her for cause. 2

With this historical background, the decision in <u>Anderson</u>

2. In <u>Longshore y, Fonrath Chevrolet</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 527 So.2d 922 (Fla. 4th **DCA** 1988), the Fourth District looked to <u>Rollins</u> for guidance in determining what constituted an "objectionable juror" for purposes of showing prejudice for an improper denial of a challenge for cause. <u>Rollins</u> set the base line for jurors subject to striking for cause. However, the <u>Longshore</u> court then noted the subsequent decision in <u>Hill</u> and, based on the principle that additional peremptory challenges would have to be sought and denied, concluded that an "'objectionable' juror is one subject to challenge either for cause or peremptorily.

The Longshore decision would appear to lend support to the view that <u>Hill</u> requires merely seeking additional peremptory challenges, without an attempt to exercise such challenges on a juror. However, the distinction the Longshore court concerned itself with was unnecessary to its decision. If a final juror is seated who should have been stricken for cause, then the seating of that juror is, alone, sufficient to reverse for a new trial, regardless of any prior errors in denying challenges for cause. This, of course, presumes that the defense preserved the issue of striking the final juror for cause by moving to do so. Absent a motion to strike for cause, the court should assume that the defendant waived the strike, either for tactical reasons or because of attorney error, an issue which is not cognieable on direct appeal. Removing the "for cause" factor from the definition of an "objectionable" juror, the Longshore rationale is reduced to that of all other cases--i.e, error has occurred if the defendant is forced to accept a juror he would have stricken had he had an additional peremptory challenge, It is easy to determine that the complaining party in Longshore would have stricken the jurors he was forced to accept, because "counsel for appellants stated on the record that he would have peremptorily challenged jurors eleven and twelve but could not" because the court had denied challenges for cause earlier in the jury selection. 527 So. 2d at 923.

All the state asks is that the defense be forced to seek striking of a specific juror, either by challenging for cause or by noting for the record that a certain juror or jurors would have been stricken but for exhaustion of peremptory challenges.

v. State, 463 So.2d 276 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984), review denied, 475
So.2d 693 (Fla. 1985), cert. denied, ____ U.S. ___, 108 S.Ct.
2870, 101 L.Ed.2d 905 (1988), is compelling:

Although we agree that the trial court erroneously denied the defendant's motion to challenge for cause the prospective juror . . . no reversible error is made to appear because (1) the defendant exercised a peremptory challenge on this juror and consequently the juror did not sit on this case as did the challenged juror in Leon y, State [396 So.2d 203 (Fla. 3d DCA), review denied, 407 So.2d 1106 (Fla. 1981)], and (2) the defendant exhausted his peremptory challenges, but made no showing below, as required by Young v. State, 85 Pla. 348, 354, 96 so. 381, 383 (1923), "that the jury finally impanelled contained at least one juror objectionable to the defendant, who sought to excuse him [the juror] peremptorily but the challenge was overruled." Stated differently, the defendant has failed to demonstrate that "he was prejudiced by being required to accept an objectionable juror because of the denial of the challenge for cause . . [which] he is required to do in order to show reversible error." Rollins v. State, 148 So. 2d 274, 276 (Pla. 1963).

Indeed, under circumstances identical to those in the instant case, where the defendant exhausted his peremptory challenges but did not attempt to exercise and was never denied a peremptory challenge on a single member of the jury who actually served on the case, the Florida Supreme Court has held that the erroneous denial of a challenge for cause on a prospective juror who, in fact, did not serve on the jury, as here, cannot constitute reversible error. Rollins V. State, supra; Young V. State, supra; McRae V. State, 62 Fla. 74, 57 So. 348 (1911). The theory behind these cases is that a defendant has in no way been harmed by such a ruling where he makes no complaint below about, and in no way seeks to strike, any juror who actually served on his case.

463 So. 2d at 277 (emphasis added).

There is no indication that this Court intended in <u>Hill</u> to recede from the historical precedent cited in <u>Anderson</u>, i.e. that the defendant must seek to strike a juror to preserve a prior erroneous denial of a challenge for cause. In fact, the language of <u>Hill</u> is entirely consistent with <u>Anderson</u>:

Florida and most other jurisdictions adhere to the general rule that it is reversible error for a court to force a party to use peremptory challenges on persons who should have been excused for cause, provided the party subsequently exhausts all of his or her peremptory challenges <u>and</u> <u>an</u> additional challenge <u>is</u> <u>sought</u> <u>and</u> denied.

Hill, 477 So.2d at 556 (emphasis added). Given the prior case law cited in Anderson, the emphasized language in Hill requires the defendant to seek to strike a specific juror. It is not enough that a defendant merely seek an additional peremptory challenge to exercise on some hypothetical juror at a later point in the selection process, or that he seek an additional challenge purely on technical grounds, to preserve a prior denial of a challenge for cause. The purpose of allowing challenges is to offer the parties an opportunity to exclude jurors they would prefer not serve. If a party has no objection to any sitting juror, then no amount of irregularity in the challenge process

^{3.} Such an interpretation places a defendant in an illogical and tenuous position. Seeking a "hypothetical" peremptory challenge to preserve a challenge for cause may result in the jury being empanelled with the defendant having failed to exhaust his peremptory challenges by virtue of the reserved challenge. Such a defendant would risk losing his right to appeal the prior erroneous strike by doing the very act he thought would preserve it. A defendant would, therefore, be forced to exercise the "hypothetical" challenge in order to exhaust, possibly forcing him to exclude an otherwise acceptable or even desirable juror.

Besides the illogic of such a Hobson's choice, such a rule also encourages hypertechnical trial practice. If a defendant is forced to exercise a peremptory challenge to exclude a jury who should have been stricken for cause, but is unable to point to a single juror ultimately seated on the panel whom he found objectionable, then he cannot claim to have been denied a fair and unbiased jury,

One could also foresee a situation where the defendant strikes unobjectionable jurors to preserve an issue regarding a challenge for cause, only to find the court's patience at an end after running out of pereaptories just before an objectionable, but not challengeable for cause, juror is seated. If the initial challenge for cause issue does not prevail on appeal, the defendant has been subjected to a trial before a jury with an objectionable juror forced upon him by the necessity of a gambit gone sour.

should require retria .

Appellant relies on Weber v. State, 501 So.2d 1379 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987), in arguing error in failure to strike for cause because of exposure to news stories about a plea offer, Appellant's Initial Brief at 23. However, the Third District still requires that a defendant, subjected to an erroneous denial of a challenge for cause, show "he was then forced to accede to an objectionable juror because he had by then exhausted his remaining peremptory challenges." Farias v. State, 540 So.2d 201, 203 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989); Smith v. State, 516 So.2d 43 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987); Jefferson v. State, 489 So.2d 211 (Fla. 3d DCA), review denied, 494 So.2d 1153 (Fla. 1986); Leon v. State 396 So.2d 203 (Fla. 3d DCA), review denied, 407 So.2d 1106 (Fla. 1981).

District court decisions subsequent to Hill have likewise been forced to qualify the putative holding of Hill that exhaustion and a motion for additional peremptory challenges are the sine qua non of preserving erroneous denial of a challenge for cause. In Auriemme v. State, 501 So.2d 41 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986), review denied, 506 So.2d 1043 (Fla. 1987), the state argued that the defendant failed to preserve a challenge for cause issue because he failed to expressly move for additional peremptory challenges. "It is not enough, says the state, that defense counsel made reference to the exhaustion of his challenges and then stated that he would like to challenge juror number 25." 501 So.2d at 43. The district court rejected the state's argument:

In \underline{Hill} the defendant \underline{did} move for additional

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